1948

Hawaiian Equipment Company, Limited v. The Eimco Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to recover damages for the refusal of defendant to accept and pay for certain personal property alleged by plaintiff to have been sold to defendant.

The pertinent allegations of the complaint are:

“2. That plaintiff and defendant entered into an agreement in writing as follows: That on or about August 8, 1946, the defendant offered and agreed to purchase from plaintiff, and

on or about August 9, 1946, the plaintiff accepted said offer and agreed to sell to defendant, certain goods known and designated as *pneumatic* scaling hammers and *chipping* hammers for the price and upon the terms and conditions hereinafter alleged. (Italics ours)

“3. That the quantity and description of said scaling hammers and chipping hammers, which defendant agreed to purchase from plaintiff, as aforesaid, are as follows:

Scaling Hammers

418	Mokel K-1	Ingersoll-Rand Co.
1250	Model FC	Chicago Pneumatic Tool Co.
140	Model MM	Independent Pneumatic Tool Co.
4	Model “Super”	Keller Co.
1	Model A	Dallet Co.
<hr/>		
1813	Total	

Chipping Hammers

708	Model # 2	Master Pneumatic Tool Co.
188	Model # 2	Chicago Pneumatic Tool Co.
92	Model #200	Ingersoll-Rand Co.
22	Model #2	Keller Co.
<hr/>		
1004	Total	

“4. That defendant agreed to pay plaintiff for each of said scaling hammers the sum of Seventeen Dollars and Fifty Cents (\$17.50), and for each of said chipping hammers the sum of Twenty-four Dollars (\$24.00), f.o.b. Honolulu, Hawaii, making a total purchase price of Fifty-five Thousand Eight Hundred and Twenty-three Dollars and Fifty Cents (\$55,853.50), which defendant agreed to pay plaintiff for said goods.”

It is alleged that defendant repudiated said agreement and refused to accept said goods, and plaintiff claimed as damages the difference between the price it is alleged defendant agreed to pay and the amount plaintiff was able to realize from the sale of said goods to other persons. Defendant answered with a general denial, a plea of the Statute of Frauds, and also set up several special defenses not necessary to be considered.

Prior to sending said cablegrams, appellant had certain telephone conversations with respondent to the effect that the United States Government was offering for sale in Honolulu certain surplus tools consisting of pneumatic chipping hammers and scaling hammers. According to appellant's evidence, respondent represented that ninety per cent of said tools were of Ingersoll-Rand manufacture (Rec. p. 233), and appellant indicated it was interested in these tools at fifty-five per cent of government costs (Rec. 105, 234-5) and promised to cable a bid (Rec. 234). "Exhibit A" was thereupon transmitted. It reads:

"Reference hammers bid maximum 24 dollars each scalers \$17.50 each Honolulu. Will take all."

Appellant intended by said cablegram that respondent should make a bid to the government for said hammers at not to exceed the maximum prices designated (Rec. 234-235 and 260), but respondent claims that said cablegram was an offer to buy from respondent. The result of such divergent understanding of the purport of said cablegram will appear in our argument.

There was a verdict and judgment for the plaintiff. This appeal is from said judgment.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

1. The court erred in overruling appellant's objection to the introduction in evidence of "Exhibit A." (Rec. p. 85).
2. The court erred in overruling appellant's objection to the introduction in evidence of "Exhibit B." (Rec. p. 86).
3. The court erred in overruling appellant's objection to the introduction in evidence of "Exhibit C." (Rec. p. 86).
4. The court erred in overruling appellant's objection to the introduction in evidence of "Exhibit D." (Rec. p. 89).
5. The court erred in refusing to grant appellant's motion for a directed verdict. (Rec. p. 326).
6. The court erred in overruling appellant's motion for new trial. (Rec. p. 62).

ARGUMENT

According to the foregoing allegations of the complaint, there was an *offer* by the appellant and an *acceptance* by the respondent which constituted the *written contract*, whereby appellant agreed to buy *certain specified quantities of certain models, of certain makes of scaling hammers and certain specified quantities, models and makes of chipping hammers*. That is the contract alleged to have been entered into, and as the value of the goods

was upwards of \$500.00, and as no part of the goods was accepted, it is, of course, a contract "*some note or memorandum*" of which is required to be in writing under Section 81-1-4 Utah Code Annotated. Under said statute, such "*note or memorandum in writing of the contract*" must be "*signed by the party to be charged*,"—in this case the appellant.

The only writing required or that is competent, as a compliance with said statute is one "*signed by the party to be charged*," and although it may be alleged that the contract between the parties is "in writing" any writing signed by the party *not* sought to be charged can be entirely disregarded as immaterial in defining the terms or conditions of the contract. Its only significance, and the only effect it can have (assuming it to be formally sufficient) is to operate as an acceptance of the terms and conditions of the offerer as contained in the "*memorandum*" signed by him.

In *Bailey v. Leishman*, 32 Utah 123, 89 Pac. 78, it is held that under an allegation that the contract was *in writing*, the acceptance could be shown by parol because the "*memorandum in writing of the contract * * * signed by the party to be charged*" is the particular writing which must embody all the terms of the contract.

See also 27 C.J. p. 277, Sec. 334 and cases cited.

1. THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING IN EVIDENCE "EXHIBIT A." (Rec. 85.)

The contract relied on being within the statute of frauds, all its terms must be contained in the "*memorandum in writing of the contract*" signed by "the party to be

charged” and the statement of the terms must be complete, definite and certain. “Exhibit A” (the offer) is ambiguous and is too uncertain and indefinite to meet these requirements.

Said “Exhibit A” is in words and figures as follows:

“Reference hammers bid maximum 24 dollars each scalers 17.50 each Honolulu. Will take all.

(a) It contains no statement of either the quantities, kinds, model or makes of either kind of hammers as alleged in the complaint or at all, and particularly no statement that they were to be “pneumatic” scaling hammers or “chipping” hammers. The description of the property is so incomplete and inadequate that it could not possibly be identified without parol evidence.

(b) The words “Will take all” are ambiguous and uncertain. They might mean “all plaintiff had in stock” or “all plaintiff could buy” or “all plaintiff might elect to sell.” Therefore, the quantity or number of either kind of hammer is uncertain and could be made certain only by parol.

(c) The words “bid maximum” do not import an offer to buy. The only reasonable meaning of such words is that of an instruction or authorization to make bids on behalf of the sender of the cablegram. Does the word “bid” ordinarily mean “offer?” If so, it cannot well be given that meaning when used in connection with the word “maximum.” How can these words be construed as an offer by appellant to *buy* for 24 dollars and 17.50 respectively? The statement of an “offer” to buy must

be so clearly expressed as to exclude any other construction. It must not be subject to construction as an authorization of respondent to bid on behalf of appellant for property offered for sale by the surplus property agency of the government. "Exhibit A" does not meet this test. The phrase "bid maximum" bears no other reasonable construction than that it authorized respondent to bid on behalf of appellant and to obtain the property (not specifically identified) as cheaply as possible, but in no event to bid above the maximum prices stated. Appellant did not cable "we bid 24 dollars each scalers 17.50 each." It cabled "bid maximum." Why use the word "maximum" if appellant was making an offer to respondent? The word "maximum" cannot be disregarded. This is a commercial transaction between traders and it is a well established rule that in construing this class of contracts every word must be taken into account.

In *National Bank of Commerce v. Lamborn*, (C.C.A. 4th Ct. 1924) 2 Fed. (2d) p. 23, the buyer bought a quantity of sugar under a contract which contained this term, "shipment to be made * * * from Java by steamer or steamers to Philadelphia." The sugar was loaded on a vessel bound for Philadelphia. It developed engine trouble whereupon another vessel containing the same quality and quantity of sugar loaded at Java and destined for New York was diverted by the seller to Philadelphia, and there tendered to the buyer within the time stipulated by the contract. The buyer refused acceptance. The court said:

“It is a mercantile contract, and merchants are not in the habit of placing in their contracts stipulations to which they do not attach some value and importance.”

Further in the opinion the court again says:

“We in the past have had more than one occasion to hold that in mercantile contracts the courts must give effect to every term in the bargain the parties have chosen to make, and are not at liberty to speculate whether they did or did not attach importance to something they wrote. As, for example, in *The Mahattan*, 284 F. 310, we accepted as settled law that a purchaser of grain to be shipped by one ship could not be required to take it if it came in another, and that we could not inquire whether every possible purpose of the buyer would not be as well served by that which was brought in the substitute. From much which was said by the tribunals which have heretofore passed upon the obligation of buyers to accept sugar from the *West Cheswald*, it would seem that it is at least possible that their conclusions were influenced not a little by their natural desire to prevent purchasers on a rapidly falling market from escaping from a bad bargain, by taking advantage of a variation from the terms for which they in fact cared nothing. Such considerations have much less weight in construing and enforcing the agreements of business men than the courts may properly give to them when they are called upon to deal with contracts of a less strictly mercantile character. In this respect we can add nothing to what has been so forcibly said in the quotations made from Mr. Justice Gray in this country and from Lords Cairns and Blackburn in England. Our examination of the

cases which in this country and across the water have put a definite interpretation on the meaning of the word 'shipment,' as used in contracts of the character of that with which we are here concerned, has convinced us that the instant case is not distinguishable from them, and is governed by what the Supreme Court there said."

The court in that case, anticipating that at first blush, since the sugar was the same as to quality and quantity, the ruling might appear strained, offered this illustration in order to demonstrate the danger of speculating as to whether a given term used in a mercantile contract may be deemed to be material or not: Suppose, said the court, the buyer had insured his shipment against loss of profits, would a policy of insurance covering a shipment of sugar loaded on a vessel from Java destined for Philadelphia be good on a similar shipment loaded on another vessel from Java destined for New York and diverted to Philadelphia? There was no insurance on the shipment in this case, but the court only used the illustration for the purpose of demonstrating that terms employed in a mercantile contract must be given effect without speculation as to whether the merchants employing the terms deemed them to be material or not.

In *Waggoner Refining Co. v. Bell Oil & Gas Co.*, (Okla.) 244 Pac. 756, the buyer ordered a number of tank cars of gasoline, and in the printed portion of the purchase order it was recited that the seller in filling shipping orders should show the buyer as the shipper, There was testimony that the parties did not treat this

term as material and that it was disregarded in prior shipments. The court said:

“This is what is denominated as a mercantile contract, and courts are not permitted to speculate as to the meaning of terms employed in such contract, nor to attempt to determine why certain terms are used; and the courts are bound to give effect to the terms which the parties have chosen for themselves. *Filley v. Pope*, 6 S. Ct. 19, 115 U. S. 213, 29 L. Ed. 372.

“As said by the court in the case of *National Bank of Commerce v. Lamborn et al.* (CCA) 2 F. (2d) 23, 36 ALR 509:

“‘In construing mercantile contracts, courts must give effect to every term, and are not at liberty to speculate whether the parties did or did not attach importance thereto’.”

It follows that the court must give effect to the word “maximum;” and when it does, the only construction possible is that instead of the cable being an offer to buy, it is in effect an authorization by appellant to respondent for the latter, as agent, to submit a bid to the Surplus Property Office, Which “bid” should not exceed the maximum price stated in the defendant’s cable.

But should we assume that the words or terms used in a “memorandum” are subject to more than one meaning, said “memorandum” is, by as strong a reason and because of such ambiguity, insufficient as the basis for a contract. As we have previously stated, the statement of an “offer to buy” must be so clearly expressed as to exclude any other construction. The memorandum is in-

sufficient to satisfy the statute of frauds unless the "offer" is an offer to buy to the exclusion of an offer to enter into any other relationship. The "memorandum" is insufficient if the offer is ambiguous and can be interpreted as well to be an instruction to an agent to make a bid to someone else. The following two authorities so hold:

In *Kervin v. Biglane*, (Miss.) 110 So. 232, the written memorandum was as follows:

"For the consideration of one dollar (\$1.00)
I hereby give O. J. Biglane option on Lots 1 and 2."

Says the court:

"It is perfectly manifest to us that it cannot be said from a close scrutiny of this paper whether it is a contract to lease, to sell, or to purchase, and, if to lease, the time of the beginning and end of the lease contract is not therein shown; in other words, the paper is so indefinite, so vague and uncertain that no one can tell what was intended to be done by the parties at the time of its execution. Our court is committed to the doctrine announced in *Waul v. Kirkman*, 27 Miss. 823, wherein Mr. Justice Handy, as the organ of the court, said:

"The rule upon this point is well settled to be that the memorandum, in order to satisfy the statute, must contain the substantial terms of the contract expressed with such certainty that they may be understood from the contract itself, or some other writing to which it refers, without resorting to parol evidence. *Boydell v. Drummond*, 11 East 143 (and other authorities.) For other-

wise all the danger of perjury, intended to be guarded against by the statute, would be let in. And when reference is made in the memorandum to another writing, it must be so clear as to prevent the possibility of the paper being substituted for another. *L. Sug. Vend.*, 94; *Smith v. Arnold*, 5 *Mason (U.S.)* 416, *Fed. Cas. No.* 13,004.'

"Under the above-quoted rule, it certainly is a most essential element that the contract state or show in some manner whether it is a contract to sell or not, and whether a warranty deed or quitclaim deed was to be executed or not. These are just as essential elements as the purchase price.

"The bill herein undertakes to explain and supply these very essential elements of the contract, but the instrument itself is so uncertain as to be absolutely void, because, by no stretch of construction, from any language in the paper, can it be said that it is an offer to sell."

In *Osborne v. Moore*, (Tex.) 247 S. W. 498, the plaintiff offered in evidence a check for \$100 on which there was entered the following memorandum:

"To bind deal on one block and six room house on North Oak Street."

The defendant objected to the introduction of the check on the ground that the word "deal" might mean a purchase and sale, or it might mean a transaction of some other character. Says the court:

"A 'deal' between two parties includes any transaction of any kind between them and when applied to a transaction concerning a house or

block does not imply an agreement to sell or convey the same, and an endorsement on a check 'to bind deal' in relation thereto may refer to an agreement to sell or convey or it may refer to an entirely different kind of transaction, as an agreement to rent or lease the property.

"The promise to sell or convey being an important element of a contract, parol evidence is not admissible to prove it as the real kind or character of the transaction actually agreed on by the parties."

In *Williston on Contracts*, Rev. Ed., Vol. II, p. 1645, Sec. 575, the author says:

"The property to which a sale, or contract to sell, relates must be described in the memorandum with reasonable certainty. So, although the contract appearing in the memorandum seems to be complete upon its fact, if, in fact, there were additional terms, the memorandum is insufficient because the memorandum must state the essential terms of the oral contract."

and in Sec. 578, p. 1656, the author states:

"The same kind of question arises in regard to a description of the goods sold. They must be sufficiently described for reasonable identification. A distinction should be noticed between sales or contracts to sell specific goods, and contracts to sell goods of a certain kind. In a contract of the latter sort, a memorandum need be no more definite than the contract. If the contract is definite enough to be enforced, a memorandum which states the contract as it was made will be sufficient, while, on the other hand, if the memor-

andum is more general than the actual contract, the memorandum, though seeming good on its face, will be insufficient because not fully stating the contract the parties made. *Where, however, the sale or contract relates to specific property,* there can be no question about lack of definiteness in the contract itself so far as concerns the property to which the bargain relates; the question is wholly whether the memorandum sufficiently describes this property." (*Italics ours.*)

"Exhibit A" is manifestly insufficient as a "memorandum in writing of the contract" in view of its uncertainty and in view of its ambiguity (if it can possibly be construed as an offer to buy) and when it is so completely lacking in a statement of all the terms of the particular contract alleged in the complaint or of any contract.

The deficiencies and uncertainties in "Exhibit A" cannot be cured, nor can the provisions of said exhibit be supplemented either by "Exhibit B" or by parol.

In *Lewis v. Elliott Bay Logging Company*, (Wash.) 191 Pac. 803, the seller wrote:

"We let you have fir at \$7-10-13 delivered Everett or Seattle."

The buyer replied:

"Your letter of the twenty-sixth instant is received in which you agree to let me have the raft of fir logs, to be delivered in Seattle, by you at \$7.00, \$10.00, and \$13.00, * * * and I will take the fir logs as per your offer at the above prices."

Held no contract; that the acceptance in specifying "raft

of fir logs” could not render certain what was uncertain in the offer. Says the court:

“The first question to be determined is whether the letters referred to constitute a sufficient memorandum to satisfy the statute of frauds. One of the essentials of a memorandum under the statute is that it shall designate the subject matter of the contract.

“Considering, first, the letter signed by the appellant, there is no designation therein of the quantity, but the subject of the sale is referred to simply as ‘fir.’ The rule as stated in 1 Mechem on Sales, Sec. 437, is that—

“ ‘The note or memorandum must also show what goods were sold and in what quantities. This rule requires that the goods shall be set out either by name or by such description as will enable them to be ascertained without other recourse to parol evidence to identify the goods or apply the description of them.’

“(1) Under this rule it is necessary that the note or memorandum show in ‘what quantities’ the goods are sold. In 25 R. C. L. 648, the rule is stated substantially the same as in Mechem, and is as follows:

“ ‘In case of contracts for the sale of goods the memorandum must designate with reasonable certainty the subject matter of the sale, and where the sale is of a quantity of a commodity the quantity must be stated with reasonable certainty as well as its kind.’

“(2, 3) This rule requires that the quantity be designated in the memorandum. The letter written by the appellant, which referred to the

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