1948

## Hawaiian Equipment Company, Limited v. The Eimco Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## 2. DEFENDANT'S WRITTEN OFFER TO PURCHASE SUFFICIENTLY DESCRIBES THE GOODS TO COMPLY WITH THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

Counsel for defendant argues at great length that the "memorandum" is insufficient to comply with the Statute, as it lacks certainty as to the property involved. The uncontradicted evidence establishes that defendant's telegraphic offer referred to the purchase of all the pneumatic scaling and chipping hammers then being offered by the government as surplus property at Honolulu, Hawaii, which the record shows were located in government warehouses, packed in 200 boxes bearing government classification num-

bers and, therefore, capable of exact identification as to quantity, models and makes (R. 126-128).

The general rule applicable to this point already has been referred to and authorities cited. (See Restatement of Contracts, Section 235. *New England Wool Company vs. Standard Worsted Company*, supra). It is based on the maxim: "id certum est quod certum reddi potest." The principle has been applied to contracts for the sale of goods in the following cases.

In *Bartlett-Heard and Cattle Company vs. Harris*, 28 Arizona 497, 238 Pac. 327, a telegraphic offer for the sale of heifers referred to them as "Lassen priced them to us at 80 dollars f.o.b. Phoenix" and also as "all the heifers you inspected." Held: "The necessity of parol evidence of all the cattle Lassen priced and of the ones Stonerod inspected does not make the memorandum insufficient."

*Northeastern Paper Company vs. Concord Paper Co.*, 214 App. D. 537, 212 N. Y. S. 218, holds that a contract for sale of all paper in rolls stored in seller's warehouse sufficiently describes the property if it may be ascertained and located by extrinsic evidence.

*Zimmerman Bros. and Company vs. First Nat. Bank*, 219 Wisconsin 427, 263 Northwestern 361, is an interesting case because of the similarity of the factual elements to the present case. In negotiations between the plaintiff and defendant for the purchase of safety deposit boxes by defendant, plaintiff advised defendant that plaintiff had located approximately 1600 boxes which could be obtained from a

receiver of a suburban bank. Defendant wrote to plaintiff:

“This will acknowledge your letter of June 26 and also confirm our conversation over the telephone. In reference to the Park Ridge safety deposit boxes, we will take the boxes.”

Defendant subsequently attempted to cancel the order but in the meantime plaintiff had committed itself to purchase the boxes from the receiver and after making an effort to dispose of the boxes without loss, but without success, plaintiff sued defendant to recover damages for breach of contract. Held that (pg. 361):

“The contention of the defendant that the memorandum disclosed by the letters is insufficient because the goods are not sufficiently described is equally untenable. No more is required than that there must be reasonable certainty. The descriptions need not be so minute and exact as to exclude the possibility that some other goods than those intended will also fall within the words of the writing.”

In *Williams vs. A. C. Burdick and Company* (Oregon) 125 Pac. 844, 126 Pac. 603, the court held that a contract for the sale of prunes was completed upon an exchange of certain telegrams, although the acceptance made reference to mailing a contract. The telegraphic offer and acceptance referred to an entirely different grade of prunes, but the court resolved this doubt without difficulty by reference to a subsequent letter of the parties which, while not constituting part of the contract, showed that the parties had in mind the same thing. The court says:

“Whether the ‘mailing contract’ referred to in the defendant’s telegram related to ‘thirties’ or to ‘30-40s’ cannot be determined from an inspection of the message. Any doubt on that subject, however, was resolved when the letter accompanying the contract reached New York by mail several days after the receipt of the defendant’s telegram.”

In considering the authorities cited by defendant, we might state that we have no quarrel with the general rules announced therein. The question is one of their applicability or application of those rules to this case. In a case such as *Kerbin vs. Bigland* and *Osborne vs. Moore*, cited on Pages 11 and 12 of defendant’s brief, the courts, of course, hold that where the memorandum omits essential terms of the contract or is so indefinite and vague that the court, even with the aid of extrinsic evidence as to the surrounding circumstances, cannot ascertain the intention of the parties the Statute is not complied with. While it might be argued that *Lewis vs. Elliott Bay Logging Company*, 191 Pac. 803, cited by defendant, is not strictly in harmony with the great majority of cases on this point, still the memorandum involved in that case makes no reference whatsoever to the quantity offered, whereas in the instant case, Eimco offered to “take all” the goods in question. In the *Lewis* case, the court says: “It should be noted that in appellant’s letter the subject of sale is referred to simply as ‘fir.’ There is no mention of the quantity.”

Cases such as *Worthheimer vs. Klinger Mills* (Ind.) 25, NE (2d) 246, represent that class of case where the quantity is stated in the memorandum in indefinite terms

such as "bags," "bales," "cars," etc., and the prices are stated in different terms of measurement such as "bushels," "pounds," etc., and having no relationship to the indefinite statement as to the quantity. In these cases the courts generally hold that the statute is not satisfied, in the absence of evidence of any common usage or custom or past dealings between the parties to show the sense in which such indefinite terms are used. See annotation 129 A. L. R. Page 1230. It will be noted that in this class of cases there is uncertainty as to both the quantity and price as one is dependent upon the other, and such uncertainty would have to be resolved by conflicting parol evidence. It is obvious that these cases are distinguishable from the case before this court as in this case the price per tool is specific and the tools involved as above demonstrated were capable of exact determination as to kind and quantity.

### 3. PLAINTIFF MADE AN UNQUALIFIED ACCEPTANCE OF DEFENDANT'S OFFER.

Defendant raises, for the first time on appeal, the contention that the words "subject delivery from surplus" contained in "Exhibit B," imported a new term and rendered the acceptance conditional. Again we make no quarrel with the rule illustrated by the cited cases to the effect that an acceptance which imports a new term renders it conditional and is at most a counterproposal. As stated by Williston:

"A conditional acceptance is in effect a statement that the offerree is willing to enter into a bargain differing in some respect from that proposed in the original offer." (Williston on Contracts Rev. Ed. Volume 1, Section 77.)

The obvious answer to defendant's contention is that the words in question import no new term nor propose a bargain differing in any respect from that intended by Eimco and fully understood by both parties. Rosenblatt's cable refers to "hammers" and "scalpers." The negotiations pending between the parties concerned solely certain pneumatic tools then being offered for sale by the government as surplus at Honolulu, and which it was understood that defendant would acquire from the government and sell to Eimco upon receipt of a firm commitment. The words relied upon as rendering the offer conditional simply state what was the understanding of both parties and clearly implicit in the offer.

Exhibit "B" states in part: "In accordance your cable Hawaiian Equipment Company sells you \* \* \*." Can there be any clearer statement of the acceptance of an offer in accordance with the terms thereof? But, defendant contends that the words following, "subject to delivery from surplus" resulted in obligating "respondent only on condition that delivery can be made or obtained from surplus." In other words it is contended that "subject to delivery from surplus" amounted to a statement that the acceptance would not be effective until a certain contingency happened, namely, the acquisition of the tools from the government. Assuming for the purpose of argument, the correctness of this construction, still this would not preclude a binding contract. Eimco immediately acquired the goods upon receipt of the offer. In such a case, Williston states the rule to be as follows:

“Where there is an acceptance which adopts unequivocally the terms of the offer but states that it will not be effective until a certain contingency happens or fails to happen, then if neither party withdraws and the delay is not unreasonable, a contract will arise when the contingency happens.” (Williston on Contracts, Rev. Ed. Volume 1, Section 77-A.)

We submit, however, that the correct rule as applied to this case is contained in the following statement by the same author:

“Sometimes an acceptor from abundance of caution inserts a condition in his acceptance which merely expresses what would be implied in fact or in law from the offer. As such condition involves no qualification of the acceptor’s assent to the terms of the offer, a contract is not precluded.”

In *Shea vs. Second National Bank of Washington*, 133 Fed. 2nd 17, it was held:

“Generally, an acceptance is not inoperative as such merely because it imposes a condition, if the requirement of the condition would be implied from the offer though not expressed therein.”

In *Frederick Raff Company vs. Murphy*, 110 Connecticut 234, 147 Atlantic 709, the defendant, a sub-contractor, submitted to plaintiff, the contractor, a bid on plumbing to be included as part of plaintiff’s bid on the whole job, and plaintiff after learning of the award to him of the contract through the newspaper, telephoned the defendant that he had been awarded the contract and when officially notified, he would notify defendant. However, the defendant at-

tempted to revoke before official notice was received by the contractor. The court held it was a binding acceptance by the contractor and stated :

“That both offer and acceptance to become effectual only in the event that the plaintiff’s bid was actually accepted and the contract awarded to it, did not detract from the mutuality of their undertaking: The defendants had no right to withdraw from their agreement after the plaintiff had accepted their bid, though the contract had not yet been awarded to it.”

Under the same argument to the effect that the acceptance was conditional and again for the first time on appeal, defendant contends that while the offer fixes the place of delivery at Honolulu, the acceptance by adding the words “f.o.b.” rendered it conditional. This contention is so clearly beyond any issue raised by the pleadings, the evidence, or brought to the attention of the trial court, it should be entirely ignored. The fact is that both parties understood that the sale was f.o.b. Honolulu. The goods were being purchased by Eimco for resale on the mainland at a profit. The abbreviation “f.o.b.” has a well defined business meaning of which many courts take judicial notice and as applied to this case meant that plaintiff would deliver the goods sold at Honolulu on board a vessel without charge to Eimco. (See annotation in 16 A. L. R. 597.)

What possible new proposal rendering the acceptance conditional can be found in the statement that plaintiff would pay the charges for handling the goods until they were put on board a vessel for shipment to Eimco? When

plaintiff confirmed its acceptance by letter mailed the same day (Exhibit D) and asked defendant for shipping instructions, did plaintiff reply to the effect that it refused to be bound because it understood that the goods were to be delivered at Honolulu and that defendant and not plaintiff was to pay the handling expenses in putting them on board ship?

In concluding his argument that the acceptance was conditional, counsel for defendant say: "This is not a case in which appellant welched from a bargain as respondent attempts to establish."

May we state that there is nothing in this record indicating that we have claimed anything beyond the fact that Eimco breached a bargain entered into with Hawaiian Equipment Company. Any implications contained in the word "welch" beyond that are purely counsels' conception of the situation. But, opposing counsel say not only did Eimco not "welch" from a bargain, but plaintiff's "action smacks of bad faith." May we respectfully ask the court's indulgence for a brief glance at the record?

Plaintiff filed suit for breach of contract. Defendant filed an answer under oath which reads like a treatise on defenses to breach of contract (R. 7-10). Defendant denies first that it entered into a contract. It then pleads the statute of frauds. It claims further a breach of warranty, which it abandoned at the trial, and also fraud on the part of plaintiff which has been resolved by the verdict of the jury. Doubtless, anticipating that these defenses might be of no avail, defendant further pleads and offers to prove that admitting it entered into a contract, nevertheless it was

acting in this transaction as a disclosed agent for Charles M. Weinberg's company at Los Angeles, California, known as the Brown-Bevis Equipment Company, or, if this defense fails, then asserts defendant, Mr. Joseph Rosenblatt may have made a contract but he had no authority to act for the Eimco Corporation of which he was general manager, therefore, Hawaiian Equipment Company will have to look to Rosenblatt personally for any damages suffered in this transaction. Still further, says defendant, if the above ideas on agency are not acceptable to the court and it isn't established that Eimco was acting as agent for Weinberg's company, or that Rosenblatt had no authority to deal for Eimco, defendant has in reserve a further defense viz: that Eimco did not offer to buy from Hawaiian Equipment Company—it merely appointed Hawaiian Equipment Company as its agent.

Defendant's ingenuity was not exhausted by the above propositions as it has brought forth some new ideas on appeal such as the assertion that the acceptance was conditional because it imported an entirely new term in the bargain contrary to what was intended by defendant. And, in conclusion, and should the above contentions be not sustained, nevertheless, claims defendant, plaintiff's action in promptly acting on defendant's offer and laying out in cold cash approximately \$46,000 in reliance thereon and its prompt acceptance by cable as clearly required by the offer "smacks of bad faith." We submit that as to this accusation the record speaks for itself.

#### 4. THERE WAS A MEETING OF MINDS ON ALL THE ESSENTIAL TERMS OF THE CONTRACT.

At the outset we desire to bring to the court's attention clearly the precise propositions argued and relied upon by defendant in the concluding part of its brief as they are stated and we understand them, and as they will be answered in the argument to follow.

Point "5" of defendant's argument is that: "The court erred in refusing to direct a verdict for appellant and in refusing to grant appellant's motion for new trial," and as a ground therefor, it is stated: "These assigned errors go to the same question as the errors in admitting in evidence Exhibits "A" and "B", and also as to the question of the insufficiency of the evidence to sustain the verdict, one of the grounds of the motion for new trial." Since, as pointed out by defendant, these assigned errors go to the same questions which already have been argued, there is no reason for reiteration of our points and authorities on said propositions.

Point "6" of defendant's argument is that: "The evidence shows that as a matter of law there was no contract as there was no meeting of minds." If, as contended, the evidence affirmatively shows as a matter of law there was no contract as there was no meeting of minds, then, of course, the trial court should have directed a verdict for defendant, as this suit is founded on contract.

In the first place we wish to call the court's attention to the fact that the pleadings nowhere support the contention

that Hawaiian Equipment Company was acting as agent for Eimco in these transactions. It is stated under oath in defendant's answer:

"That the defendant was at all times, in the transactions *alleged in the complaint*, the agent for Brown-Bevis Equipment Company of Los Angeles, California, and that the fact that defendant was so acting as agent was at all times, known to the plaintiff herein." (R. 9.)

This defense, which was unavailing, and for that matter not argued in this court, nevertheless, is absolutely inconsistent with defendant's present contention and counsel realized this in his carefully worded ground for a directed verdict, which is the only ground embodying its contention that there was no meeting of the minds. Note the exact words of counsel on this point:

*"Conceding that said two cables constituted an offer and acceptance to buy and sell, they did not result in a valid contract, because there was no meeting of the minds."* (R. 327.)

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